RECEIVED

06-13-2019

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. JOSHUA M. WREN,

Petitioner-Petitioner,

Appeal No. 2017-AP-880-W

VS.

Trial No. 06-CF-2518

REED RICHARDSON, Warden,

Respondent.

On review of a decision of the Court of Appeals of November 12, 2018 denying Habeas Corpus relief

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PETITIONER-PETITIONER

JOHN T. WASIELEWSKI Bar ID No. 1009118 Attorney for Petitioner-Petitioner

Wasielewski & Erickson 1429 North Prospect Avenue Suite 211 Milwaukee, WI 53202

(414) 278-7776 jwasielewski@milwpc.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether Mr. Wren was deprived of his direct appeal due to the ineffectiveness of his trial counsel.

The Court of Appeals apparently presumed an affirmative answer and proceeded to review that State's asserted affirmative defense of laches.

2. Whether the defense of laches should preclude granting relief to Mr. Wren.

The Court of Appeals found that the State had proved laches and exercised discretion to apply laches to preclude relief.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Wren believes that oral argument is appropriate. This Court has apparently determined that oral argument is appropriate: in the order granting review of May 14, 2019 this Court orders that this case be scheduled for oral argument on the same calendar assignment as argument in *State v. Pope*, 17-AP-1720-CR.

Mr. Wren also believes that publication would be appropriate to set forth the applicability and scope of the laches defense in future habeas corpus cases.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying case

A criminal complaint dated May 16, 2006 charged 16-year-old Defendant-Appellant Joshua M. Wren with one count of first degree reckless homicide in violation of Wis. Stat. §940.02(1). 1: 1-5. A preliminary hearing was held on May 31, 2006. 52: 1-24.

On November 13, 2006 Mr. Wren entered a guilty plea to first degree reckless homicide in return for a promise by the State make no specific sentencing recommendation and to leave the sentence up to the Court. 14: 1; 53: 3, 8.

On March 13, 2007, Mr. Wren, represented by Attorney Nikola Kostich, appeared before Judge Wagner for sentencing. 53: 1. Judge Wagner imposed a sentence of 30 years imprisonment consisting of 21 years initial confinement and 9 years extended supervision.

The record contains no notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief.

Habeas Corpus proceedings

On May 15, 2017 Mr. Wren, *pro se*, filed a petition for habeas corpus in the Court of Appeals asserting that his trial counsel was ineffective for having failed to file a

notice of intent to seek postconviction relief after Mr. Wren had requested to appeal; as a remedy, Mr. Wren sought reinstatement of his direct appeal rights. 45: 1-14. The Court of Appeals ordered the State file a response. 27: 1; 28: 1. In its response, the State indicated an intent to interpose a laches defense to Mr. Wren's petition, but indicated that remand for a fact-finding hearing was necessary to establish the merits of both Mr. Wren's petition and laches. 30: 1-4.

The Court of Appeals remanded the case for a fact-finding hearing on Mr. Wren's petition and on the laches defense, specifying nine points to be addressed in the findings. 49: 3-5; 32: 2. On March 1, 2018 the Honorable Carolina Stark held an evidentiary fact-finding hearing at which Mr. Wren and three of his family members testified. 54: 1-68. On April 11, 2018 Judge Stark issued written findings of fact. Apx. 114-117; 48: 1-4. Upon receiving these finding, the Court of Appeals ordered further briefs. Apx. 113.

On November 12, 2018 the Court of Appeals issued an opinion and order that Mr. Wren's habeas corpus petition be denied. Apx. 101-110.

Facts relevant to the petition and laches

Mr. Wren was born on May 10, 1990. 54: 19. His case started in Children's Court but then moved to adult court. 54: 30. Attorney Nikola Kostich represented Mr. Wren in all adult court proceedings through sentencing. 54: 30. Mr. Kostich was appointed by the State Public Defender. 54: 29-30; 2: 1. Mr. Kostich died in 2014. Apx. 117; 48: 4.

Joshua Wren, his mother Beverly Cotton, his father Danny Wren and his sister Danielle Wren all testified at the fact-finding hearing as to events at Joshua Wren's sentencing. All three family members were present at the sentencing hearing. 53: 19; 54: 6, 14, 20. Ms. Cotton, Danny Wren and Joshua Wren testified that based on conversations with Mr. Kostich, the expected sentence or requested sentence would include 13 years incarceration. 54: 6-7, 14, 30. The presentence report included a recommendation of 13 years initial confinement and 5 to 6 years of extended supervision. 13: 12; 53: 28; 54: 31.

The sentence imposed included 21 years of confinement. 14: 1; 53: 40. Joshua Wren was dissatisfied with this and immediately asked Mr. Kostich to appeal;

Judge Stark found:

[U]pon conclusion of the sentencing hearing, while Wren was still in the courtroom and at the defense table, he told Attorney Kostich that he disagreed with the sentence. In response, Attorney Kostich told Wren not to worry because they would appeal, and as a result, Wren believed that Attorney Kostich would complete the requirements necessary to seek postconviction relief.

Apx. 115; 48: 2. Joshua Wren, being in custody, could not follow Mr. Kostich out of the courtroom. However, Ms. Cotton, Danny Wren and Ms. Wren all testified that they met with Mr. Kostich in the hallway after sentencing, and that Mr. Kostich told them not to worry as he would appeal. 54: 7-8, 16, 21.

Judge Stark addressed the Notice of Right to Seek Postconviction Relief form, finding that it was filed on March 13, 2007, the date of sentencing, although it was dated March 7, 2007. Apx. 114; 48: 1. The court found that the "undecided" box was checked, but that Mr. Wren did not check it and the court could not determine who checked this box. Apx. 114-115; 48: 1-2 and footnote 2. The court found that when Mr. Wren signed the form, he did not know which box would be checked, as Mr. Wren's

counsel did not discuss this with Mr. Wren. Apx. 115; 48: 2. Mr. Wren testified he never received a copy of this form. 54: 43-44. Judge Stark noted that both the original and the colored carbon copies of this form (exhibit 9) were in the court file, although not file-stamped. 54: 40-41; 47: 1-3.

After the sentencing hearing, Mr. Wren's family members made numerous attempts to contact Mr. Kostich regarding the appeal. Judge Stark found that Danielle Wren made multiple phone calls to Mr. Kostich, both within the 20 days after sentencing and for about 3 years afterward, but Mr. Kostich never responded. Apx. 116; 48: 3. Beverly Cotton and Danny Wren also tried calling Mr. Kostich, but without success. Apx. 116; 48: 3. Judge Stark found:

Attorney Kostich was not available to Wren or third parties acting on his behalf during the twenty days after March 13, 2007. Attorney Kostich had no communication with Wren or third parties acting on his behalf after March 13, 2007, despite their multiple attempts to contact him. Attorney Kostich intentionally led Wren and third parties acting on his behalf to believe that he would timely complete the requirements for the defendant necessary postconviction relief, and then he failed to do so without notifying Wren or third parties acting on his behalf.

Apx. 116; 48: 3.

Mr. Wren wrote to Mr. Kostich in June and December of 2007 inquiring about the status of his appeal, but received no response. Apx. 115; 48: 2; 45: 13. In 2010 or 2011, Mr. Wren concluded that Mr. Kostich had not filed an appeal on his behalf. Apx. 116; 48: 3. In the period from 2010 to 2016, with the help of non-attorneys, Mr. Wren filed several postconviction pleadings. Apx. 117; 48: 4; 54: 45-48. None of these sought reinstatement of Mr. Wren's direct appeal because Mr. Wren was not aware of that option; he would have sought such relief earlier had he known he could do so. 54: 49-50. Mr. Wren learned of his option to seek reinstatement of his appeal by corresponding with an uncle confined in another institution. 54: 50-51. Within 3 or 4 months after communicating with his uncle, Mr. Wren filed the habeas petition giving rise to this action. 54: 56-57. Judge Stark thus found:

Sometime in 2010 or 2011, Wren concluded that Attorney Kostich had not filed an appeal on his behalf. After reaching this conclusion, Wren still wanted to seek postconviction relief regarding ineffective assistance of trial counsel and the sentence, but he did not know how to do so.

Apx. 116-117; 48: 3-4.

The Court of Appeals issued an opinion and order denying Mr. Wren Habeas relief based upon the State's assertion of the defense of laches. Apx. 101-110.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Wren was deprived of his direct appeal due to the ineffectiveness of his trial counsel.

Trial counsel has a duty, which extends beyond sentencing, to counsel his client on seeking postconviction relief and to file a notice of intent to seek postconviction relief if requested:

Counsel representing the person at sentencing or at the time of the final adjudication shall continue representation by filing a notice [of intent to pursue postconviction or postdisposition relief] under par. (b) if the person desires to pursue postconviction or postdisposition relief unless counsel is discharged by the person or allowed to withdraw by the circuit court before the notice must be filed.

Wis. Stat. §809.30(2)(a); see also Wis. Stat. §973.18(5): "If the defendant desires to pursue postconviction relief, the defendant's trial counsel shall file the notice required by s. 809.30(2)(b)."

A person asserting that his trial counsel was ineffective due to a failure to file a notice of intent may seek relief, and the court of appeals is the proper forum in which to seek such relief. *State ex rel. Kyles v. Pollard*, 2014 WI 38, ¶38, 354 Wis.2d 626, 847 N.W.2d 805.

Normally, a defendant asserting ineffective assistance of counsel must establish that counsel's actions were deficient, and that the defendant suffered prejudice as a result. However, no showing of prejudice is required when a defendant has been deprived of counsel. "Counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal after being instructed to do so constitutes the deprivation of counsel." State ex rel. Kyles v. Pollard, 2014 WI 38, ¶48, 354 Wis.2d 626, 847 N.W.2d 805, citing *United States v. Nagib*, 56 F.3d 798, 801 (7th Cir. 1995). The Supreme Court of the United States has very recently reaffirmed the principle that "when an attorney's deficient performance costs a defendant an appeal that the defendant would have otherwise pursued, prejudice to the defendant should be presumed." Garza v. Idaho, 586 U.S. ____, 139 S.Ct. 738, 742 (decided February 27, 2019), citing Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 484, 120 S.Ct. 1029, 145 L.Ed.2d 985 (2000). The Court in *Garza* recognized that this principle applies even in circumstances where the defendant has signed an appeal waiver as part of a plea agreement. Garza, 139 S.Ct. at 749.

Judge Stark's factual findings leave no room for any conclusion but that Mr. Wren's counsel failed to file a

notice of intent to seek postconviction relief after being instructed to do so. Judge Stark found that immediately after being sentenced, Mr. Wren expressed his dissatisfaction with the sentence, and Mr. Kostich assured him that he would complete the requirements necessary to seek postconviction relief. Apx. 115; 48: 2. Filing a notice of intent, like filing a notice of appeal, is an administrative task and not a strategic matter for counsel. See, *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 477, 120 S.Ct. 1029, 145 L.Ed.2d 985 (2000): "[F]iling a notice of appeal is a purely ministerial task, and the failure to file reflects inattention to the defendant's wishes." However, Mr. Kostich failed to do as promised; Judge Stark found:

Attorney Kostich intentionally led Wren and third parties acting on his behalf to believe that he would timely complete the requirements necessary for the defendant to seek postconviction relief, and then he failed to do so without notifying Wren or third parties acting on his behalf.

Apx. 116; 48: 3.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged Mr. Wren's assertion that he was deprived of a direct appeal due to his trial counsel's failure to file a notice of intent to seek postconviction relief. Apx. 103-104. Noting that the State

does not address this claim, but instead asserts that Mr. Wren's claim is barred by laches, the Court of Appeals reached no express conclusion on Mr. Wren's claim. Apx. 104. Instead, the Court addresses laches.

II. Laches should not preclude granting Mr. Wren relief

1) Habeas Corpus and Laches

The Supreme Court of the United States has described the doctrine of laches as a defense requiring proof of two elements: "(1) lack of diligence by the party against whom the defense is asserted, and (2) prejudice to the party asserting the defense." *Costello v. United States*, 365 U.S. 265, 282 (1961). It has an ancient history in federal Supreme Court jurisprudence. See, *Galliher v. Cadwell*, 145 U.S. 368, 372-373 (1892) (surveying cases). The cases surveyed in *Galliher*, as well as *Galliher* itself, were all civil actions between private parties.

Despite the ancient nature of the laches defense, its utilization in the context of a habeas corpus action is relatively recent. Justice Scalia noted that federal courts created or adopted several threshold constraints on habeas corpus, including "exhaustion of state remedies, procedural default, nonretroactivity and (prior to AEDPA)

abuse of the writ." *Day v. McDonough*, 547 U.S. 198, 214 (2006) (Scalia, dissenting). However, federal courts never created or adopted any time limitation on habeas corpus petitions, including equitable laches; as Justice Scalia explains, laches entered federal habeas corpus jurisprudence only by rule and only since 1977:

[P]rior to the enactment of AEDPA, we affirmatively rejected the notion that habeas courts' traditionally broad discretionary powers would support their imposition of a time bar. "there [wa]s Historically, no statute limitations governing federal habeas, and the only laches recognized [wa]s that which affects the State's ability to defend against the claims raised on habeas"—which was imposed by Rule, and not until 1977. Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U. S. 619, 637 (1993); see also *United States v*. Smith, 331 U. S. 469, 475 (1947); 17A C. Wright, A. Miller, & E. Cooper, Federal Practice and Procedure § 4268.2, pp. 497-498 (2d ed. 1988) (hereinafter Wright & Miller). We repeatedly asserted that the passage of time alone could not extinguish the habeas corpus rights of subject unconstitutional person to incarceration. See Pennsylvania ex rel. Herman v. Claudy, 350 U. S. 116, 123 (1956); Chessman v. Teets, 354 U. S. 156, 164-165 (1957). For better or for worse, this doctrine was so well entrenched that the lower courts regularly entertained petitions filed after extraordinary delays. See, e. g., Hawkins v. Bennett, 423 F. 2d 948, 949 (CA8 1970) (40 years); Hamilton v. Watkins, 436 F. 2d 1323,

1325 (CA5 1970) (at least 36 years); *Hannon v. Maschner*, 845 F. 2d 1553, 1553-1555 (CA10 1988) (at least 24 years).

Day v. McDonough, 547 U.S. at 214-215 (Scalia, dissenting).

In Wisconsin case law, the equitable doctrine of laches is also longstanding. See, *e.g.*, *Sheldon v. Rockwell*, 9 Wis. 166 (1859) (applying laches to deny relief to plaintiff seeking to enjoin his neighbor from rebuilding a dam). The exact formulation and elements of laches varied, although all variations required, at minimum, proof of an unreasonable deny by the claimant and prejudice to the party asserting the defense. See, *State ex rel. Coleman v. McCaughtry*, 2006 WI 49, ¶¶19-28, 290 Wis.2d 352, 714 N.W.2d 900, *opinion clarified* 2002 WI 121, 297 Wis.2d 587, 723 N.W.2d 424 (surveying elements applied in prior laches cases).

While laches as an equitable doctrine is long established in Wisconsin, its introduction into habeas corpus jurisprudence is anomalous. The first mention of laches in a Wisconsin appellate case in a habeas context arose in a case where the circuit court had dismissed the habeas petition as untimely. It is not clear from the

decision that either the circuit court or the parties ever invoked or discussed laches. The Court of Appeals stated:

The circuit court's ruling was essentially premised on a finding of laches against McMillian. While we recognize that a habeas proceeding may be dismissed under the equitable doctrine of laches, [13] the delay on the part of the petitioner must be unreasonable. [14]

State ex rel. McMillian v. Dickey, 132 Wis.2d 266, 281, 392 N.W.2d 453 (Ct. App. 1986). The footnotes in this quotation cite not to any Wisconsin case, but to two federal cases: Mayola v. Alabama, 623 F.2d 992, 999 (5th Cir. 1980), cert. den., 451 U.S. 913 (1981); and, *Baxter v*. Estelle, 614 F.2d 1030, 1032-33 & n. 2 (5th Cir. 1980), cert. den., 449 U.S. 1085. These federal cases apply laches, not based on any constitutional or common-law principle, but based on Rule 9(a) of the rules governing cases under 28 U.S.C. §2254, the statute governing federal habeas corpus review of petitions arising from state court convictions. This is the rule Justice Scalia cited when noting that federal courts did not recognize laches in habeas corpus proceedings until it was adopted by rule in 1977. Day v. McDonough, 547 U.S. at 214-215 (Scalia, dissenting). Thus, to the extent the *McMillian* court

adopted laches as a defense to habeas corpus petitions, it was essentially adopting a federal rule.

Ultimately, McMillian declined to apply laches to justify the circuit court's dismissal of the habeas corpus petition, as it found that the delay could in no way be attributed to Mr. McMillian and was not unreasonable. McMillian, 132 Wis.2d at 283-284. The Court of Appeals' analysis was based on the notion that the circuit court's decision was "essentially premised" on laches. The *McMillian* court's gratuitous recognition, based ultimately on a federal rule, that "a habeas proceeding may be dismissed under the equitable doctrine of laches" was cited and relied upon in State ex rel. Smalley v. Morgan, 211 Wis.2d 795, 800, 565 N.W.2d 805 (Ct. App. 1997), overruled by State ex rel. Lopez-Quintero v. Dittmann, 2019 WI 58. Thereafter, McMillian and Smalley are cited as the basis for applying the laches defense in a habeas corpus context. See, State. ex rel. Coleman v. McCaughtry, 2006 WI 49, ¶25, 290 Wis.2d 352, 714 N.W.2d 900; State v. Evans, 2004 WI 84, ¶49, 273 Wis.2d 192, 682 N.W.2d 784 (not a habeas case, but discussing habeas procedure); State ex rel. Santana v. Endicott, 2006 WI App 13, ¶9, 288 Wis.2d 707, 709 N.W.2d 515; State ex rel. Washington v. State, 2012 WI App 74, ¶19 and footnote 13, 343 Wis.2d 434, 819 N.W.2d 305.

This court recently stated: "The application of laches to bar habeas petitions is well-established. See Coleman, 290 Wis.2d 352, ¶¶2, 19-25." State ex rel. Lopez-Quintero v. Dittmann, 2019 WI 58, ¶16. The paragraphs from Coleman cited in support of this statement survey laches cases and the various two-, threeand four-element configurations of laches used in these cases. However, these paragraphs mention only two Wisconsin cases with a habeas petition at issue: McMillian and Smalley. Coleman, ¶¶24-25. This Court in Lopez-Quintero overruled Smalley. Lopez-Quintero, ¶2, 10, 19. Thus, while the discussion in *Coleman* shows that laches generally as a defense is well-established (although its elements varied), it also shows that the application of laches in habeas cases is rooted through Smalley to McMillian. McMillian first introduced laches into Wisconsin habeas jurisprudence in by implicit adoption of a federal habeas rule.

In *Lopez-Quintero*, this Court determined that an allegation of untimeliness, without more, is not grounds to dismiss a habeas petition. This Court found that the

"prompt and speedy" pleading requirement imposed by *Smalley* is "unsupported either by the statutory text or Wisconsin cases." *Lopez-Quintero*, ¶21. While noting that some language in *Coleman* suggests a timeliness factor in habeas petitions, this Court stated that the only source of such a requirement is *Smalley*, which "erroneously conjured this requirement from a statute that is entirely silent on the subject." *Lopez-Quintero*, footnote 12.

Just as *Smalley* improperly introduced a prompt and speedy pleading requirement into habeas corpus law without a basis in Wisconsin statute or cases, so did *McMillian* introduce laches into Wisconsin habeas law without a basis in Wisconsin statute or cases. Nothing in the *McMillian* decision acknowledges that the court was breaking new ground, or that no prior Wisconsin case had ever found laches applicable as a defense to a habeas petition. In fact, laches was merely how the Court of Appeals interpreted the basis for the circuit court's ruling, although the quoted language of the circuit court implicates only timeliness. *McMillian*, 132 Wis.2d at 280-281.

As noted above, although federal law utilized laches since at least the nineteenth century, laches did not appeal

in federal habeas actions until 1977, by rule. Thus, federal courts declined to impose laches or time limitations on habeas petitioners, giving varied rationales. One such rationale was the continuing nature of the detention which necessarily underlies every habeas petition:

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