RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-09-2019

IN SUPREME COUR PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP880-W

STATE OF WISCONSIN EX REL. JOSHUA M. WREN,

Petitioner-Petitioner,

v.

REED RICHARDSON, WARDEN,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DENYING A PETITION FOR A WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-5366 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) shaeffersl@doj.state.wi.us

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

In any event, Wren's unsupported claim about his lack of knowledge at most explains why he delayed in filing a habeas petition; it does not mean that his delay was reasonable. This Court in *Coleman*, for example, rejected the petitioner's argument that his delay in filing a habeas petition was reasonable "because he was without legal knowledge or financial means to hire another attorney." 290 Wis. 2d 352, ¶ 33. It noted that the petitioner had "made no showing of why he failed to attempt to bring his concerns before a court

 $^{^5}$ The circuit court found, "Wren filed motions to the circuit court in 2010, 2011, 2013 and 2016 before filing his current petition for *habe[a]s corpus*." (R. 48:4.)

on a pro se basis, as so many incarcerated persons have." *Id.* ¶ 32. The *Washington* court similarly concluded that a delay in filing a habeas petition was unreasonable, despite the petitioner's claimed lack of knowledge and pro se status. 343 Wis. 2d 434, ¶ 23. The court reasoned that the petitioner had demonstrated his knowledge of postconviction procedure by filing several motions for collateral relief. *Id.* So too here. Because Wren filed several postconviction motions before filing a habeas petition, he should have been able to discover the legal basis for his habeas petition before he filed it. His alleged lack of legal knowledge does not make his delay reasonable. Were it otherwise, laches could very rarely, if ever, apply to a habeas petition.

Wren next cites to *Kyles*, 354 Wis. 2d 626, ¶ 56, to support his claim that he should not be denied the right to counsel and then be precluded from raising a claim because of errors resulting from the absence of counsel. (Wren's Br. 21.) Kyles is inapposite to Wren's case.

In *Kyles*, the petitioner filed a *pro se* habeas petition with the court of appeals seeking to reinstate his direct appeal rights immediately after he learned that the deadline for filing the notice of intent had passed. 354 Wis. 2d 626, ¶¶ 10–11. The court of appeals determined that it was not the correct forum, so Kyles—not sitting on his rights—filed a petition in circuit court. Id. ¶ 12. Kyles thereafter continued to seek to have his appeal rights reinstated in different forums until this Court determined that the court of appeals was the correct forum. Id. ¶ 38. This Court then addressed whether Kyles' petition was sufficiently pled to entitle him to an evidentiary hearing. Id. ¶ 46. This Court concluded it was sufficient. Id. ¶ 49. The issue of laches was never raised in Kyles.

Here, nothing, including the State or the courts, precluded Wren from seeking to have his appellate rights reinstated once he learned by 2011 that his direct appeal

rights had expired. Unlike the *pro se* petitioner in *Kyles*, who attempted to have his appellate rights reinstated right away, Wren did not attempt to reinstate his direct appeal rights in his circuit court filings in 2011, 2013, or 2016. He waited over six years to bring his claim.

Wren next argues that the court of appeals' reliance on *Washington* is misplaced because the petitioner in that case was older and "more sophisticated and capable than Mr. Wren." (Wren's Br. 22.) But the undisputed facts in Wren's case don't support this argument. First, Wren realized that Kostich had not filed an appeal in 2010 or 2011. (R. 54:55.) Wren was not a juvenile; he was 20 or 21 years old at this time. (R. 1:1.) Second, Wren testified at the fact-finding hearing that he filed numerous other claims in the circuit court *after* he arrived with this knowledge.

Q. And yet on your behalf, in 2010 you filed a motion regarding the DNA surcharge, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And in 2011 you filed a motion for reconsideration of your sentence, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And in 2013 you filed a motion asking the Court to amend the judgement of conviction, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. An[d] in 2016 you filed a motion for sentence modification, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. So after finding out there was no appeal, you filed in the circuit court four separate motions, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. So at least six years passed before you filed the habeas corpus seeking to reinstate your appellate rights, correct?

A. Yes.

(R. 54:56.) Thus, although Wren argues that he was too unskilled to present his current claim, the record shows that he was perfectly capable of availing himself of the court system.

Wren next argues that it was unfair for the court of appeals to penalize him for not seeking relief from that court when it was not clear until Kyles that the court of appeals was the correct forum to bring his claim. (Wren's Br. 24.) The court of appeals was "not persuaded" by Wren's argument (Pet-App. 107), nor should this Court be. As the court of appeals aptly determined, "[i]t is undisputed that Wren knew by 2011 that no appeal had been filed on his behalf. Pursuing a series of pro se motions without alerting any court to the fact that he believed his trial counsel failed to preserve his right to seek postconviction relief is unreasonable." (*Id.* (emphasis added).) So, while Wren asserts that the court of appeals' decision "rests on the premise that upon finally concluding in 2010 or 2011 that his trial counsel had failed to initiate an appeal, Mr. Wren should have known to file a petition in this court to seek reinstatement of his direct appeal" (Wren's Br. 23–24), Wren is wrong. The "premise" of the court of appeals' decision is that Wren, unlike the petitioner in *Kyles*, unreasonably waited years and years to pursue his claim in "any court." (Pet-App. 107 (emphasis added).) And in the same vein, while Wren belabors the circuit court's finding that Wren wanted to seek postconviction relief regarding ineffective assistance of counsel "but he did not know how to do so" (Wren's Br. 23, 26, 30), it is the court's next finding that shows Wren's delay was unreasonable: that even when he learned in 2010 or 2011 that Kostich had not filed an appeal, "Wren filed motions to the

circuit court in 2010, 2011, 2013, and 2016 before filing his petition for *habe[a]s corpus*." (R. 48:4.)

Wren's delay was unreasonable. The State bears no responsibility for his delay, and the record does not reflect any reasonable justification for his six-year delay in seeking his current habeas relief.

2. The State had no knowledge that Wren would bring this claim.

The parties have stipulated that the State was unaware that Wren would move to reinstate his appellate rights. (R. 54:4.) Wren does not contest this element. (Wren's Br. 19.)

3. The State proved prejudice.

Wren argues that "[t]he State's claim of prejudice is based solely on the unavailability of Attorney Kostich, who died in 2014." (Wren's Br. 27.) Wren is incorrect. The State's claim of prejudice is all about Wren's unreasonable six-year delay in pursing his direct appeal rights and the *consequences* of that delay.

But first, in *Lopez-Quintero*, this Court reaffirmed the principle that the State must not only allege prejudice, but also "prove a factual basis for it." 2019 WI 58, ¶ 22. The circuit court's factual findings support the court of appeals' decision that the State proved prejudice:

- "Sometime in 2010 or 2011, Wren concluded that Attorney Kostich had not filed an appeal on his behalf."
- "After reaching this conclusion, Wren still wanted to seek postconviction relief regarding ineffective assistance of trial counsel and the sentence, but he did not know how to do so."

- "Ultimately, with the assistance of people other than legal counsel, Wren filed motions to the circuit court in 2010, 2011, 2013 and 2016 before filing his petition for habe[a]s corpus."
- "Attorney Kostich passed away in 2014."

(R. 48:3-4.)

Wren's delay prevented the State from being able to defend against his ineffective assistance claim. Because Wren waited until 2017 to bring his current claim, as opposed to when he learned about it "in 2010 or 2011," the State was deprived of an opportunity to question Attorney Kostich about his representation of Wren, as well as his communications with Wren's family, during the relevant timeframe. Had Wren filed his habeas petition while Kostich was still alive and his memory was fresh, Kostich might have testified that Wren never told him to file a notice of intent. As the circuit court noted in its order:

- "[T]he evidence received and the record developed at the evidentiary hearing does not support a finding regarding whether Attorney Kostich sought to extend the deadline for filing a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief and if not, why not."
- "[N]o evidence was received regarding any effort on [Kostich's] part to seek extension of the deadline for filing a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief or reasons for failing to do so."

(R. 48:1 (emphasis added).)

In *Washington*, the court of appeals concluded that the State had established prejudice where trial counsel was unable to provide information about the decision not to pursue an appeal:

The circuit court found that, because of the time that had passed, [trial counsel] no longer had any independent recollection of his representation of Washington and that the relevant case file was destroyed in 2005 or 2006. A finding that counsel cannot "recall or ... reconstruct what happened during his communications with [a defendant]; what [the defendant's] response was; and how they reached the ultimate decision not to appeal," is sufficient to establish prejudice.

Id. ¶ 25 (quoting Coleman, 290 Wis. 2d 352, ¶ 36) (ellipses and second two sets of bracketing supplied by Washington).

Similarly, the court of appeals in this case determined that the State was prejudiced by Wren's delay: "Because trial counsel passed away in 2014 and his files could not be located, the State was unable to gather from trial counsel information concerning Wren's interest in pursuing postconviction relief, such as what Wren and Wren's family members told trial counsel, whether trial counsel attempted to contact them, and why the standard form that was filed after sentencing indicated that Wren was 'undecided about seeking postconviction relief." (Pet-App. 108.) As the court of appeals concluded, "[t]his is sufficient to establish prejudice." (*Id*.)

But Wren argues that the factual issues in his case "are simple and straight-forward," and therefore the State was not prejudiced by Wren's delay. (Wren's Br. 27–28.) Namely, Wren argues that he presented "overwhelming evidence" that he informed Attorney Kostich that he wanted to appeal, and Kostich assured him that he would appeal. (Wren's Br. 28.) But the facts are not simple and straight-forward. The missing evidence from the hearing was testimony from Attorney Kostich. We do not know from Attorney Kostich what happened *after* he told Wren and his family at sentencing "not to worry because they would appeal." (R. 48:2.) We do not know, as the circuit court recognized, "whether [he] sought to extend the deadline for filing a notice

of intent to pursue postconviction relief and if not, *why not*." (R. 48:1 (emphasis added).) Kostich was not alive to answer to Wren's claims of ineffective assistance as the result of Wren's unreasonable delay in filing his habeas petition.

Because Wren waited several years and did not bring his habeas petition until after Kostich's death, the only evidence received at the fact-finding hearing came from Wren and Wren's family. The State could not ask Attorney Kostich about Wren's claims against him. The State could not put on any possible testimony from Kostich discussing his notes or his file. The State was prejudiced in its ability to respond to the *merits* of Wren's allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel as a result of the passage of time due to Wren's delay pursuing his habeas remedies. Wren's unreasonable delay prejudiced the State.

E. The court of appeals reasonably exercised its discretion when it balanced the equities and applied laches.

Because the court of appeals concluded that the State proved laches, it next weighed the equities and determined that laches should apply. Wren argues that the court of appeals' application of laches was "improper and inequitable." (Wren's Br. 30.) It wasn't.

"If the defense of laches is proved, whether to apply laches and dismiss the habeas petition is left to the discretion of the court of appeals." Coleman, 290 Wis. 2d 352, ¶ 17. This Court upholds a discretionary decision if it is reasonable and based on the relevant facts and law. $State\ v.\ Rhodes$, 2011 WI 73, ¶¶ 25–26, 336 Wis. 2d 64, 799 N.W.2d 850.

In its analysis, the court of appeals noted that "Wren waited over ten years to raise concerns about the lack of the appointment of postconviction counsel and a direct appeal, despite the fact that he sought relief numerous times from the trial court." (Pet-App. 109.) It also stressed that "Wren knew by at least 2011 that he did not have a direct appeal." (Id.) Therefore, the court concluded that Wren's "failure to raise this claim in any court until 2017 was unreasonable and justifies the application of laches in this case." (Id.) The court of appeals in Washington relied on similar facts when it concluded that applying laches was equitable in that case. 343 Wis. 2d 434, ¶ 26.

Yet Wren argues that it was improper for the court of appeals to "h[o]ld Mr. Wren solely responsible for the delay in requesting reinstatement of his appeal." (Wren's Br. 30.) But it was Wren, and only Wren, who was responsible for the sixyear delay. He "sat on his hands" (Washington, 343 Wis. 2d 434, ¶ 26) for at least six years after discovering that Kostich had not advanced his direct appellate rights. (R. 48:3.) What is more, instead of seeking reinstatement of his appellate rights, he filed multiple requests for collateral relief from his conviction during that time. (R. 48:4.)

To the extent that Wren is arguing that any delay on his part is imputed to the State under *Coleman v. Thompson*, 501 U.S. 722, 754 (1991) (Wren's Br. 31), he is mistaken. As Wren notes in his brief, *Coleman* provides, "Where a petitioner defaults a claim as a result of the denial of the right to effective assistance of counsel, the State, which is responsible for the denial as a constitutional matter, must bear the cost of any resulting default and the harm to state interests that federal habeas review entails." *Id.* So, under *Coleman*, a petitioner in a federal habeas proceeding can overcome a procedural default by proving that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. 501 U.S. at 753–54. *Coleman* does not help Wren for three reasons.

First, Wren's case is not a federal habeas proceeding, and the State is not asserting that Wren procedurally defaulted a claim. A federal habeas claim is procedurally defaulted if (1) it wasn't fairly presented in state court or, (2) it was presented and the state courts rejected it on adequate and independent state-law grounds. *Coleman*, 501 U.S. at 735 & n.1. The federal procedural-default doctrine discussed in *Coleman* has no bearing here.

Second, there has *never* been a judicial determination as to whether Kostich was actually ineffective. No court has ever concluded that Wren proved (1) Kostich was deficient and, (2) Wren was prejudiced by the deficient performance. Wren's argument is circular: he posits that because Kostich was ineffective, the State cannot assert laches against his ineffective assistance claim. But this argument does not work because the laches doctrine "bypass[es] the merits of a claim." Lopez-Quintero, 2019 WI 58, ¶ 24; see also Evans, 273 Wis. 2d 192, ¶ 49 (noting that, "even if it is determined that appellate counsel was deficient, a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel is subject to the defense of laches"), abrogated on other grounds by Coleman, 290 Wis. 2d 352. Because the laches doctrine bars Wren's claim of ineffective assistance, he cannot rely on the alleged *merits* of that claim to overcome the laches bar.⁶

Third, Wren cannot blame Kostich for Wren's own unreasonable, prejudicial delay. The Supreme Court in *Coleman* recognized that a federal habeas petitioner bears the burden of a procedural default that occurred when the state was not constitutionally required to supply him with counsel.

⁶ This conclusion would hold true even if federal habeas principles applied to Wren's case. In a federal habeas case, a petitioner cannot rely on a defaulted ineffective assistance claim to overcome the default of that very claim. *Costa v. Hall*, 673 F.3d 16, 25 (1st Cir. 2012) (citing *Edwards v. Carpenter*, 529 U.S. 446, 453 (2000)).

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